
Hammock Bay 
 Community   

Development District 

February 26, 2026 

Agenda Package 

TEAMS MEETING INFORMATION 

MEETING ID:241 870 989 020 5   PASSCODE: Vv7Sf6Sr 
 Join the meeting now 

Or 
DIAL BY PHONE: 

1-646-838-1601
Phone Conference ID: 558333821# 

313 Campus Street, Celebration, Florida 34747 

Agenda Page 1

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZWVhZTNmYWMtZDg0ZS00NmVkLTljZTEtZWU1NmQ2MGI5OGFl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22370a51ba-6ba0-401f-be4b-e8768251c9d6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2238ed9a2e-4bc2-4ce1-8cba-80ad138f89e2%22%7d


Hammock Bay Community Development District 
 
Board of Supervisors Staff: 
Tim Edwards, Chairperson Jennifer Goldyn, Director of District Services 
David Underwood, Vice Chairperson Samantha Harvey, District Manager 
Mary Barnes, Assistant Treasurer Hanna Yi,, District Accountant 
Daniel Rosenheim, Assistant Secretary Kareen Baker, District Administrative Assistant 
Dane Sauer, Assistant Secretary Tucker Mackie Esq., District Counsel 
 Rich Welch, District Engineer 
  
  
  
 

District Office: Meeting Location 
Inframark Hammock Bay Lake Center 
313 Campus Street,  1830 Great Hammock Bend 
Celebration, FL. 33607                                                                                                                                           Freeport, FL.32429 
813-873-7300    
 
 

Meeting Agenda 
Thursday, February 26, 2026 at 6:00 p.m. CST 

Audience Participation 
Call-in Number: 1-646-838-1601, Conference ID: 558333821#  

 
1. Call to Order and Roll Call  
2. Motion to Approve the Agenda  
3. Audience Comments -Three (3) Minute Time Limit 
4. Business Administration  

A. Consideration of Minutes from the Meeting held on October 30, 2025 ........................ Page 3 
5. Business Items  

A. Discussion of the Fiscal Year 2025 Audit – Ms. Lauren Villarreal 
i. Acceptance of the Fiscal Year 2025 Audit Prepared by Carr, Riggs & Ingram 

 LLC .................................................................................................................. Page 8 
B. Discussion of Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget .............................................................. Page 52 
C. Consideration of Resolution 2026-04, Removing and Designating New Treasurer .... Page 65 
D. Consideration of Resolution 2026-05, General Election ............................................. Page 66 

6. Staff Reports 
A. District Accountant 
B. District Counsel 
C. District Manager 

7. Supervisor Requests 
8. Adjournment 
          

 The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, May 28, 2026 at 6:00 p.m. CST 

Agenda Page 2



MINUTES OF THE MEETING  1 
HAMMOCK BAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 2 

3 
The Board of Supervisors of the Hammock Bay Community Development District held a 4 

regular meeting on Thursday, October 30, 2025 at 6:00 p.m. (CST) at the Hammock Bay Lake 5 

Club, located at 1830 Great Hammock Bend, Freeport, FL 32439. 6 

7 
8 
9 

Chairperson 10 
Vic Chairperson 11 
Assistant Secretary 12 
Assistant Secretary 13 
Assistant Secretary 14 

15 
16 
17 

District Manager 18 
District Counsel (via Teams) 19 

Present and constituting a quorum were: 

Tim Edwards 
David Underwood 
Mary Barnes 
Daniel Rosenheim 
Dane Sauer 

Also present were: 

Samantha Harvey 
Tucker Mackie  
Lauren Villarreal Carr, Riggs & Ingram LLC 20 

21 
22 

This is not a certified or verbatim transcript but rather represents the context and 23 
summary of the meeting. The full meeting is available in audio format upon request. Contact 24 
the District Office for any related costs for an audio copy. 25 

26 
27 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS    Call to Order / Roll Call 28 
Ms. Harvey called the meeting to order and called the roll. A quorum was established. 29 

30 
SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Motion to Approve the Agenda 31 

Ms. Harvey requested to add Resolution 2026-03 Budget Amendment to the agenda. 32 

33 
On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Mr. 34 
Underwood with all in favor, the agenda was approved, as 35 
amended. 4-0  36 

37 
THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Audience Comments 38 
            None. 39 

40 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Organizational Matters 41 
A. Discussion of New Supervisor for Seat #1 (Term Expires 11/2028)42 

i. Letter of Intent – Dane Sauer43 

Agenda Page 3



October 30, 2025  Hammock Bay CDD  
 

 2  

The Board conducted a question-and-answer session with Mr. Sauer regarding his interest 44 

in joining the Board and the value he could bring as a new Board member.  Mr. Sauer expressed 45 

his desire to serve in order to make a meaningful impact.  46 

 47 
On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Ms. Barnes 48 
with all in favor, Mr. Dane Sauer was appointed to Seat #1 49 
of the Board. 4-0 50 

 51 
B. Oath of Office of Newly Elected Supervisor 52 
Mr. Sauer read his Oath of Office into the record. 53 

 54 
C. Consideration of Resolution 2026-01, Designation of Officers 55 
Ms. Harvey outlined the resolution. 56 

 57 
Mr. Underwood MOVED to appoint himself to be Vice 58 
Chairperson and Mr. Edwards seconded the motion.  59 

 60 
Upon VOICE VOTE with all in favor, Mr. Underwood was 61 
appointed Vice Chairperson. 5-0 62 

 63 
Mr. Edwards proposed that a Board member be designated to serve as Assistant Treasurer. 64 

 65 
Ms. Barnes MOVED to appoint herself to Assistant 66 
Treasurer and Mr. Rosenheim seconded the motion.  67 

 68 
Upon VOICE VOTE with all in favor, Ms. Barnes was 69 
appointed Assistant Treasurer. 5-0 70 

 71 
On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Ms. Barnes 72 
with all in favor, Resolution 2026-01, with Mr. Edwards, as 73 
Chairperson; Mr. Underwood as Vice Chairperson; Ms. 74 
Barnes as Assistant Treasurer; Mr. Rosenheim and Mr. 75 
Sauer, as Assistant Secretaries; Ms. Leah Popelka as 76 
Treasurer, Ms. Angel Montagna as Assistant Treasurer, Ms. 77 
Jennifer Goldyn as Secretary; and Ms. Samantha Harvey as 78 
Assistant Secretary was adopted. 5-0 79 

 80 
Ms. Mackie provided a brief overview to Mr. Sauer about the CDD and the Florida 81 

Sunshine Law. The public records law was explained to Mr. Sauer as well. Additionally, Ms. 82 

Mackie and Ms. Harvey will send the required information for his role as a new Board supervisor. 83 

 84 

Agenda Page 4



October 30, 2025  Hammock Bay CDD  
 

 3  

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Business Administration 85 
A. Consideration of Minutes from the Meeting held August 28, 2025 86 

 87 
On MOTION by Ms. Barnes seconded by Mr. Rosenheim 88 
with all in favor, the Minutes of the Meeting held on August 89 
28, 2025 were approved as presented. 5-0 90 

 91 
B. Explanation of Variance in Miscellaneous Contingency Account  92 
Ms. Sowani explained the variance errors made in the miscellaneous contingency expense 93 

and how it was resolved. Ms. Sowani explained that in addition to the Board receiving the 94 

financials by email monthly, Ms. Harvey will also be receiving the general ledger monthly.  95 

Ms. Sowani discussed closing the account with Trustmark since the account is not being 96 

used.  97 

 98 

On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Mr. Rosenheim 99 
with all in favor, closing the Trustmark account and 100 
transferring the funds to the operating account was 101 
approved. 5-0 102 

 103 

C. Consideration of Operations and Maintenance Expenditures April 2025 104 
D. Acceptance of April 2025 Financial Reports 105 
E. Consideration of Operations and Maintenance Expenditures May 2025 106 
F. Consideration of May 2025 Financial Reports 107 
G. Consideration of Operations and Maintenance Expenditures June 2025 108 
H. Consideration of June 2025 Financial Reports 109 

 110 
On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Ms. Barnes 111 
with all in favor, motion approved in consent form for 112 
agenda items 5C through 5H. 5-0  113 

 114 
I. Consideration of Resolution 2026-03, Budget Amendment 115 
Ms. Sowani presented the budget amendment to the Board, outlining the line items. She 116 

proposed an increase of $6,600 for an increased budget total of $81,000. This is solely for 117 

compliance purposes.  118 

 119 
On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Ms. Barnes 120 
with all in favor, Resolution 2026-03, Budget Amendment 121 
for Fiscal Year 2025 was adopted. 4-0  122 

 123 
 124 

Agenda Page 5



October 30, 2025 Hammock Bay CDD 

4 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Business Items 125 
A. Discussion of the Audit – Ms. Lauren Villarreal126 
i. Acceptance of the Fiscal Year 2023 Audit Prepared by Carr, Riggs, & Ingram127 

128 LLC (Tabled Item)
Ms. Villarreal with Carr, Riggs, and Ingram LLC introduced herself and discussed Chapter 129 

190, audit requirements and the audit filing process. She provided an in-depth overview of the 130 

2023 audit. She explained to the Board they will make a correction of an error to remove the assets 131 

from the financials. These assets will be zeroed out of the Fiscal Year 2025 Audit. 132 

The Board requested directions from Inframark on where the District needs to be with 133 

raising assessments for Fiscal Year 2026-2027 budget. Surplus was built into the revenue. Ms. 134 

Mackie stated the CDD has built up a reserve to meet the general fund requirements. Ms. Sowani 135 

commented that they are not using debt service for this. Ms. Villarreal confirmed the CDD has had 136 

a shortfall for several years. 137 

138 

On MOTION by Mr. Underwood seconded by Mr. 139 
Rosenheim with all in favor, Carr, Riggs, & Ingram LLC 140 
Fiscal Year 2023 Audit was accepted. 5-0 141 

142 

143 B. Acceptance of the Fiscal Year 2024 Audit Prepared by Carr, Riggs & Ingram LLC 
Ms. Villarreal provided an overview of the Fiscal Year 2024 Audit. Ms. Harvey inquired144 

why the Fiscal Year 2024 audit expense was not accrued. Ms. Villarreal responded it was not billed 145 

in a timely manner, and this will be completed on time moving forward. 146 

147 

On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Ms. Barnes 148 
with all in favor, Carr, Riggs, & Ingram LLC Fiscal Year 149 
2024 Audit was accepted. 5-0 150 

151 

Mr. Edwards inquired at what revenue threshold do you not need an audit. Ms. Mackie 152 

stated Chapter 190 requires a CDD to have an audit regardless of the threshold. Ms. Mackie stated 153 

the Board may think about dissolving the District once the bonds are paid off. Mr. Edwards 154 

inquired whether audit fees will decrease in the future. Ms. Villarreal will investigate this after all 155 

reporting for 2025 is done. 156 

C. Consideration of Resolution 2026-02, Adopting Goals and Objectives157 
158 

Agenda Page 6



October 30, 2025  Hammock Bay CDD  
 

 5  

On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Ms. Barnes 159 
with all in favor, Resolution 2026-02, Adopting Goals, 160 
Objectives and Performance Measures and Standards; 161 
Providing a Severability Clause; and Providing an Effective 162 
Date was adopted. 5-0 163 

 164 
SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Staff Reports 165 

A. District Counsel 166 
i. Ethics Training Reminder 167 

Ms. Harvey gave an ethics training review, noting this is now an annual requirement. 168 

The Board must complete their Form 1 and confirm they have completed the ethics 169 

training by December 31, 2025. 170 

 171 
B. District Engineer 172 

No report. 173 
 174 

C. District Manager 175 
No report. 176 

 177 
EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisor Requests   178 
 Mr. Underwood provided an update on his discussions with the City of Freeport. He noted 179 

the roads are being taken over by the City. Mr. Underwood requested the conveyance documents 180 

be emailed to him so he can present them to the City. An audience member, Ms. Paige Brown, a 181 

realtor in Hammock Bay, stated she informs prospective buyers about the CDD prior to home 182 

purchases. However, she believes that more than half of homeowners, both new buyers and 183 

existing residents are unaware of the CDD fees. 184 

 185 
NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Adjournment  186 
 There being no further business,  187 

 188 

On MOTION by Mr. Edwards seconded by Mr. 189 
Underwood, with all in favor, the meeting was adjourned at 190 
8:06 p.m. 4-0 191 

 192 

________________________ __________________________ 193 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  194 

Agenda Page 7



Agenda Page 8



Agenda Page 9



Agenda Page 10



Agenda Page 11



Agenda Page 12



Agenda Page 13



Agenda Page 14



Agenda Page 15



Agenda Page 16



Agenda Page 17



Agenda Page 18



Agenda Page 19



Agenda Page 20



Agenda Page 21



Agenda Page 22



Agenda Page 23



Agenda Page 24



Agenda Page 25



Agenda Page 26



Agenda Page 27



Agenda Page 28



Agenda Page 29



Agenda Page 30



Agenda Page 31



Agenda Page 32



Agenda Page 33



Agenda Page 34



Agenda Page 35



Agenda Page 36



Agenda Page 37



Agenda Page 38



Agenda Page 39



Agenda Page 40



Agenda Page 41



Agenda Page 42



Agenda Page 43



Agenda Page 44



Agenda Page 45



Agenda Page 46



Agenda Page 47



Agenda Page 48



Agenda Page 49



Agenda Page 50



Agenda Page 51



Hammock Bay

Community Development District

FISCAL YEAR 2027

PROPOSED BUDGET

February 26, 2026

Agenda Page 52



Hammock Bay
Community Development District

Page #

OPERATING BUDGET

General Fund

Summary of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 1-2

Budget Narrative 3-4

DEBT SERVICE BUDGETS

Series 2016

Summary of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances ……………………………..…………………………….. 5

Amortization Schedule ……………………………………………………………………………………..…………………………………………………………………………………….. 6

Budget Narrative 7

SUPPORTING BUDGET SCHEDULES

Non-Ad Valorem Assessment Summary 8

Table of Contents

Agedna Page 53Agenda Page 53



Community Development District

Hammock Bay

Operating Budget
FY 2027

Agenda Page 54



Hammock Bay
Community Development District  General Fund

ADOPTED ACTUAL PROJECTED TOTAL ANNUAL

BUDGET THRU February- PROJECTED % +/(-) BUDGET 

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION FY 2026 1/31/2026 9/30/2026 FY 2026 Budget FY 2027

REVENUES

Interest - Investments $0.00 $787.00 $0.00 $787.00 0% $0.00

Operations & Maintenance Assmts - On Roll $77,709.00 $73,853.00 $3,856.00 $77,709.00 0% $0.00

TOTAL REVENUES $77,709.00 $74,640.00 $3,856.00 $78,496.00 1% $0.00

EXPENDITURES

Administrative

Supervisor Fees $3,200.00 $600.00 $2,600.00 $3,200.00 0% $0.00

District Management $36,909.00 $12,303.00 $24,606.00 $36,909.00 0% $0.00

Website Admin Services $550.00 $1,613.00 $0.00 $1,613.00 193% $0.00

District Engineer $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0% $0.00

District Counsel $6,000.00 $2,804.00 $3,196.00 $6,000.00 0% $0.00

Trustees Fees $4,500.00 $1,449.00 $3,051.00 $4,500.00 0% $0.00

Auditing Services $6,500.00 $0.00 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 0% $0.00

Postage, Phone, Faxes, Copies $100.00 $15.00 $85.00 $100.00 0% $0.00

Mailings $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 0% $0.00

Legal Advertising $1,000.00 $159.00 $841.00 $1,000.00 0% $0.00

Bank Fees $100.00 $0.00 $100.00 $100.00 0% $0.00

Dues, Licenses & Fees $175.00 $175.00 $0.00 $175.00 0% $0.00

Website ADA Compliance $1,613.00 $46.00 $1,567.00 $1,613.00 0% $0.00

ProfServ-Arbitrage Rebate $650.00 $0.00 $650.00 $650.00 0% $0.00

Misc Contingency $6,562.00 $0.00 $6,562.00 $6,562.00 0% $0.00

Total Administrative $71,359.00 $19,164.00 $53,258.00 $72,422.00 1% $0.00

Insurance $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0% $0.00

Public Officials Insurane and General Liability $6,350.00 $5,512.00 $838.00 $6,350.00 0% $0.00

Total Insurance $6,350.00 $5,512.00 $838.00 $6,350.00 0% $0.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $77,709.00 $24,676.00 $54,096.00 $78,772.00 1% $0.00

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

Over (under) expenditures $0.00 $49,964.00 -$50,240.00 -$276.00 0% $0.00

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Contribution to (Use of) Fund Balance $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0% $0.00

Summary of Revenues Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Fiscal Year 2027 Budget
General Fund 001

     Annual Operating and Debt Service Budget 1

Agenda Page 55



Hammock Bay
Community Development District  General Fund

ADOPTED ACTUAL PROJECTED TOTAL ANNUAL

BUDGET THRU February- PROJECTED % +/(-) BUDGET 

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION FY 2026 1/31/2026 9/30/2026 FY 2026 Budget FY 2027

TOTAL OTHER SOURCES (USES) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Net change in fund balance $49,964.00 -$50,240.00 -$276.00 0% $0.00

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING -$2,558.00 -$2,558.00 $0.00 -$2,558.00 0% -$2,834.00

FUND BALANCE, ENDING -$2,558.00 $47,406.00 -$50,240.00 -$2,834.00 11% -$2,834.00

     Annual Operating and Debt Service Budget 2

Agenda Page 56



Hammock Bay 
Community Development District        General Fund 

        
   

Budget Narrative 
Fiscal Year 2027 

 
REVENUES 

Interest-Investments 

The District earns interest on its operating accounts. 

Operations & Maintenance Assessments – On Roll 

The District will levy a Non-Ad Valorem assessment on all the assessable property within the District to pay for the operating 
expenditures during the Fiscal Year. The collection will be provided by the Tax Collector pursuant to Section 197.3632, 
Florida Statutes, which is the Uniform Collection Methodology. 

 
 

EXPENDITURES 

 
Financial and Administrative 

Supervisor Fees 

Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes allows for members of the Board of Supervisors to be compensated $200 per meeting 
at which they are in attendance. The amount for the Fiscal Year is based upon four supervisors attending 14 meetings. 

District Management 

The District retains the services of a consulting manager, who is responsible for the daily administration of the District's 
business, including any and all financial work related to the Bond Funds and Operating Funds of the District, and preparation 
of the minutes of the Board of Supervisors. In addition, the District Manager prepares the Annual Budget(s), implements all 
policies of the Board of Supervisors and attends all meetings of the Board of Supervisors. 

Website Admin Services 

The cost of web hosting and regular maintenance of the District’s website by Inframark Management Services.  
 

District Engineer  
The District's engineer provides general engineering services to the District, i.e., attendance and preparation for board  
meetings when requested, review of invoices, and other specifically requested assignments. 
 

District Counsel 
The District’s attorney provides general legal services to the District, i.e., attendance and preparation for Board meetings,  
review of contracts, agreements, resolutions, and other research as directed or requested by the BOS District Manager. 

Trustee Fees 

The District pays US Bank an annual fee for trustee services on the Series 2016 Bonds. The budgeted amount for the fiscal 
year is based on previous year plus any out-of-pocket expenses. 

   Auditing Services 

The District is required to conduct an annual audit of its financial records by an Independent Certified Public Accounting 
Firm. The budgeted amount for the fiscal year is an estimate based on prior year costs.  

Postage, Phone, Faxes, Copies 

This item refers to the cost of materials and service to produce agendas and conduct day-to-day business of the District.  

Mailings 

Copies used in the preparation of agenda packages, required mailings, and other special projects. 

3

Agenda Page 57



Hammock Bay 
Community Development District        General Fund 

        
   

Budget Narrative 
Fiscal Year 2027 

 
   Financial and Administrative (continued) 

Legal Advertising 

The District is required to advertise various notices for monthly Board meetings and other public hearings in the newspaper 
of general circulation. 

Bank Fees 

This represents the cost of bank charges and other related expenses that are incurred during the year. 

Dues, Licenses & Fees 

This represents the cost of the District’s operating license as well as the cost of memberships in necessary organizations. 

Website ADA Compliance 

Cost of maintaining district website’s compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 

ProfServ-Arbitrage Rebate 

On a quarterly and annual basis, disclosure of relevant district information is provided to the Muni Council, as required within 
the bond indentures. 

   Miscellaneous Contingency 

All other administrative costs not otherwise specified above. 
 
 

   Insurance 

Public Officials Insurance and General Liability  

The District's General Liability & Public Officials Liability Insurance policy is with Egis Insurance Advisors, LLC. The 
budgeted amount allows for a projected increase in the premium. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4

Agenda Page 58



Hammock Bay
Community Development District

Debt Service Budget
FY 2027

Agenda Page 59



Hammock Bay
Community Development District Debt Service Fund

ADOPTED ACTUAL PROJECTED TOTAL ANNUAL

BUDGET THRU February- PROJECTED % +/(-) BUDGET 

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION FY 2026 1/31/2026 9/30/2026 FY 2026 Budget FY 2027

REVENUES

Interest - Investments $0.00 $3,525.00 $0.00 $3,525.00 0% $0.00

Special Assmnts- Tax Collector $212,946.00 $197,688.00 $15,258.00 $212,946.00 0% $230,310.95

TOTAL REVENUES $212,946.00 $201,213.00 $15,258.00 $216,471.00 2% $221,098.51

EXPENDITURES

Debt Service

Principal Debt Retirement $140,000.00 $20,000.00 $120,000.00 $140,000.00 0% $150,000.00

Interest Expense Series $58,740.00 $27,885.00 $30,855.00 $58,740.00 0% $49,170.00

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0% $0.00

Total Debt Service $198,740.00 $47,885.00 $150,855.00 $198,740.00 0% $199,170.00

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $198,740.00 $47,885.00 $150,855.00 $198,740.00 $203,776.22

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

Over (under) expenditures $14,206.00 $153,328.00 -$135,597.00 $17,731.00 25% $17,322.29

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Contribution to (Use of) Fund Balance $14,206.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 -100% $0.00

TOTAL OTHER SOURCES (USES) $14,206.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Net change in fund balance $153,328.00 -$135,597.00 $17,731.00 0% $17,322.29

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0% $17,731.00

FUND BALANCE, ENDING $14,206.00 $153,328.00 -$135,597.00 $17,731.00 25% $35,053.29

PAR VALUE OF BONDS AFTER ANNUAL PRINCIPAL PAYMENT

11/1/2024 11/1/2025 11/1/2026 11/1/2027

Series 2016 Bonds $1,850,000.00 $1,710,000.00 $1,565,000.00 $1,415,000.00

Summary of Revenues Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Fiscal Year 2027 Budget
Series 2016 Bonds

     Annual Operating and Debt Service Budget 5

Agenda Page 60



Hammock Bay

Community Development District Debt Service Fund 

Date
Outsanding 

Balance
Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service

5/1/2024 $1,990,000.00 $140,000.00 3.30% $32,835.00 $172,835.00

11/1/2024 $1,850,000.00 $30,525.00 $30,525.00

5/1/2025 $1,850,000.00 $140,000.00 3.30% $30,525.00 $170,525.00

11/1/2025 $1,710,000.00 $28,215.00 $28,215.00

5/1/2026 $1,710,000.00 $145,000.00 3.30% $28,215.00 $173,215.00

11/1/2026 $1,565,000.00 $25,822.50 $25,822.50

5/1/2027 $1,565,000.00 $150,000.00 3.30% $25,822.50 $175,822.50

11/1/2027 $1,415,000.00 $23,347.50 $23,347.50

5/1/2028 $1,415,000.00 $155,000.00 3.30% $23,347.50 $178,347.50

11/1/2028 $1,260,000.00 $20,790.00 $20,790.00

5/1/2029 $1,260,000.00 $160,000.00 3.30% $20,790.00 $180,790.00

11/1/2029 $1,100,000.00 $18,150.00 $18,150.00

5/1/2030 $1,100,000.00 $170,000.00 3.30% $18,150.00 $188,150.00

11/1/2030 $930,000.00 $15,345.00 $15,345.00

5/1/2031 $930,000.00 $175,000.00 3.30% $15,345.00 $190,345.00

11/1/2031 $755,000.00 $12,457.50 $12,457.50

5/1/2032 $755,000.00 $180,000.00 3.30% $12,457.50 $192,457.50

11/1/2032 $575,000.00 $9,487.50 $9,487.50

5/1/2033 $575,000.00 $185,000.00 3.30% $9,487.50 $194,487.50

11/1/2033 $390,000.00 $6,435.00 $6,435.00

5/1/2034 $390,000.00 $190,000.00 3.30% $6,435.00 $196,435.00

11/1/2034 $200,000.00 $3,300.00 $3,300.00

5/1/2035 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 3.30% $3,300.00 $203,300.00

$1,990,000.00 $420,585.00 $2,410,585.00

Series 2016 Amortization Schedule

Annual Operating and Debt Service Budget 6

Agenda Page 61



Hammock Bay 
Community Development District        Debt Service Fund 

        
   

Budget Narrative 
Fiscal Year 2027 

 
REVENUES 

Interest-Investments 

The District earns interest on its operating accounts. 

Operations & Maintenance Assessments – On Roll 

The District will levy a Non-Ad Valorem assessment on all the assessable property within the District to pay for the operating 
expenditures during the Fiscal Year. The collection will be provided by the Tax Collector pursuant to Section 197.3632, 
Florida Statutes, which is the Uniform Collection Methodology. 
 
 

EXPENDITURES  

 
Debt Service 
 
Principal Debt Retirement 
The district pays regular principal payments to annually to pay down/retire the debt. 

 
Interest Expense 
The District Pays interest Expenses on the debt twice a year. 

7

Agenda Page 62



Hammock Bay
Community Development District

Supporting Budget Schedule
FY 2027

Agenda Page 63



Hammock Bay

Community Development District All Funds 

60 1.00 3 3 $526.88 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $529.31 $526.88 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $700.18 $154.53 $170.87

70 1.17 107 33 $616.45 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $618.88 $616.45 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $789.75 $154.53 $170.87

75 1.25 92 40 $658.60 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $661.04 $658.60 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $831.90 $154.53 $170.87

80 1.33 149 103 $700.76 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $703.19 $700.76 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $874.05 $154.53 $170.87

85 1.42 1 1 $748.18 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $750.61 $748.18 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $921.47 $154.53 $170.87

90 1.50 5 1 $790.32 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $792.75 $790.32 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $963.62 $154.53 $170.87

95 1.58 2 2 $832.47 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $834.90 $832.47 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $1,005.77 $154.53 $170.87

100 1.67 73 46 $879.89 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $882.32 $879.89 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $1,053.19 $154.53 $170.87

110 1.83 22 14 $964.19 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $966.63 $964.19 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $1,137.49 $154.53 $170.87

Commercial 2.00 50 50 $1,053.77 -$3.38 $2.43 -$3.38 $1,056.20 $1,053.77 $151.15 $173.30 $151.15 $1,227.07 $154.53 $170.87

Total 504 293

Notations:

(1) Annual assessments are adjusted for collection costs and early payment discounts of 6%.
(2) An increase in assessments creates a positive figure; conversely, a decrease in assessments creates a negative figure.

3988.33

650

3771.25

8634.99

FY 2027 

Total with 

Debt 

Service

Debt 

Service Per 

Unit

O&M Per 

Unit w/o 

Debt 

Service

O&M Per 

Unit with 

Debt 

Service

Summary of Assessments 2027 VS 2026

FY 2027 FY 2026 Assessment Variance (2)

Lot Size
EAU 

Value

Total Unit 

Count

Debt 

Service 

Unit 

Count

Debt 

Service Per 

Unit

O&M Per 

Unit w/o 

Debt 

Service

FY 2026 

Total w/o 

Debt 

Service

FY 2026 

Total with 

Debt 

Service

Inc/(Dec) In 

O&M w/o DS 

Per Unit

Inc/(Dec) In 

O&M with DS 

Per Unit

O&M Per 

Unit with 

Debt 

Service

FY 2027 

Total w/o 

Debt 

Service

     Annual Operating and Debt Service Budget 8

Agenda Page 64



 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION REMOVING LEAH POPELKA AS 
TREASURER AND APPOINTING STEPHEN BLOOM AS 
TREASURER OF HAMMOCK BAY COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Hammock Bay Community Development 
District desires to remove Leah Popelka as Treasurer and appoint Stephen Bloom as Treasurer;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE HAMMOCK BAY 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. Leah Popelka is removed as Treasurer. 
2. Stephen Bloom is appointed Treasurer. 

 
Adopted this 26th day of February 2026 
 
 
 
 
   
 Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  
  
 
 
 
   
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary 
  
 

Agenda Page 65



RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
HAMMOCK BAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CONFIRMING THE DISTRICT’S USE OF THE WALTON COUNTY 
SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS TO CONTINUE CONDUCTING THE 
DISTRICT’S ELECTION OF SUPERVISORS IN CONJUNCTION WITH 
THE GENERAL ELECTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Hammock Bay Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within Walton County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Hammock Bay Community Development 
District (hereinafter the “Board”) previously implemented section 190.006(3)(a) 2.c., Florida 
Statutes, to instruct the Walton County Supervisor of Elections (the “Supervisor”) to conduct the 
District’s supervisor General Elections; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Supervisor has requested the District adopt a resolution confirming the 

District’s use of the Supervisor for the purpose of conducting the District’s future supervisor 
elections in conjunction with the General Election; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to continue to use the Supervisor for the purpose of 

conducting the District’s supervisor elections in conjunction with the General Election.   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE HAMMOCK BAY COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
Section 1.  The Board is currently made up of the following individuals: Dane Sauer, 

Daniel Rosenheim, Tim Edwards, Mary Barnes and David Underwood.    
 
Section 2.  The term of office for each member of the Board is as follows: 
 
Seat No. Supervisor  Term  Expiration Date 
 1.  Dane Sauer  4 Years 11/2028 
 2.  Daniel Rosenheim 4 Years 11/2028 
 3.  Tim Edwards  4 Years  11/2028 
 4.  Mary Barnes   4 Years 11/2026 
 5.  David Underwood  4 Years 11/2026 
 
Section 3.  Seat 4, currently held by Mary Barnes, and Seat 5, currently held by David 

Underwood are scheduled for the General Election in November 2026. 
 
Section 4.  Pursuant to section 190.006(8), Florida Statutes, members of the Board shall 

be entitled to receive for his or her services an amount not to exceed $200 per meeting of the 

Agenda Page 66



Board, not to exceed $4,800 per year per member. 
 
Section 5.  The term of office for the individuals to be elected to the Board in the 

November 2026 General Election is four years. 
 
Section 6.  The new Board members shall assume office on the second Tuesday 

following their election. 
 
Section 7.  The District hereby instructs the Supervisor to continue conducting the 

District’s elections in conjunction with the General Election.  The District understands that it will 
be responsible to pay for its proportionate share of the General Election cost and agrees to pay 
same within a reasonable time after receipt of an invoice from the Supervisor.   
 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 26th DAY OF FEBRUARY 2026. 
 
 
ATTEST:      HAMMOCK BAY COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Assistant Secretary / Secretary   Vice Chairman / Chairman 
 
 

Agenda Page 67


	Agenda Package Cover Page 
	HB 02.26.26 Agenda 
	4A-HBCDD Minutes 10.30.25 
	5Ai-Hammock Bay - FY 2025 Required Communications
	Hammock Bay - FY 2025 Audited Financial Statements
	5B-Discussion of the FY 2027 Budget
	5C-Consideration of Resolution 2026-04, Removing and Designating New Treasurer
	5D-Consideration of Resolution 2026-05, General Election



